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CLERK, U.S. DISTRICT COURT
MINKEAPOLIS, MINNESOTA
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ;
H
Plantif, .
. e .
v  nold K 08 -/72IMA
AGA MEDICAL CORPORATION, : DEFERRED PROSECUTION
:  AGREEMENT .,
Defendant. ;

Defendant AGA Medical Corporation (“AGA™), s Minnesota corporation, by its
undersigned attorneys, pursuant to authority granted by AGA's Board of Directors, and the
United States Department of Justice, Criminal Division, Fraud Section (the *Department of
Justice” or “the Department™ enter into this Deferred Progecution Agresment (“the
Agreement”). The torms and conditicns of this Agresment are as follows:

Criminal Ig;g;m;;lon and Acceptance of Responsibllity

1..  AGA scoepts and acknowledges that the United States will file a two-count
criminal Information in the United States District Court for the District of Minnesota charging
AGA with conspirscy to comumit an offense against the United States, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §
371, that is, to violate the Poreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 (“FCPA™), as amended, 15
U.8.C. § 78dd-2(2)(1) (Count One); and violating the FCPA, 15 U.S.C, § 78dd-2(aX1) and 18
U.8.C. § 2 (Count Two). In so doing, AGA knowingly waives itg right to indictment on these
charges, as well 23 all rights to a speedy trial pursuant to the Sixtk Amendment to the United
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States Constitution, Title 18, United States Code Section 3161, and Federal Rule of Criminal
Procedure 48(b). In eddition, AGA consents to the filing of the Information and the Agreement
in the United States District Court for the District of Minresota.

2. AGA admits, accopts and ackmowledges that it is responsible for the acts of its
officers, employzes and agents, as set forth in the Statement of Facts atiached hereto as
“Attachment A, and incorporated by reference into this Agreement, and that the facts described
in Attachment A are trus and accurate. Should the Department initiate the prosscution that is
deferred by this Agreement, AGA. agrees that it will neither contest the admissibility of, nor
contradict, in any such proceeding, tho Statement of Facts.

Xexrm of the Agreement

3. This Agreement is effective for & period beginning on the latest date on which any
party signs il and ending thres (3) years and seven (7) ealendar days from that date (the “Term™).
However, AGA agrees that, in the event that the Department determines, in its sole discretion,
that AGA has knowingly violated sy provision of this Agreement, an extension or extensions of
the term of the Agreement ;n'ay be imposed by Department,-in its sole discretion, for-up to a total
additional time period of one-year. Any exteusion of the Agreement extends all tenns of this
Agreement for sn equivalent period. Conversely, in the event the Department finds, in its sole
discretion, that there exists & change in circumstances sufficient to eliminate the need for the

Monitor, and the other provisions of this Agreement have beon satisficd, the Term of the
Agreement may be terminated early.




Yoluntary Cooperation
4, The Department enters into this Agreement tased on the individual facts and

circumstances presented by this case and AGA. Among the facts considered were: (a) AGA
voluntarily and timely discloged the misconduct described m the Informetion and Statement of
Pacts; (b) AGA conducted a thorough internal investigation of that misconduct, (¢} AGA
veported sil of its findings to the Department; (d) AGA cooperated in the Department's
investigation of this matier; (€} AGA has undertaken remedial measures as contemplated by this
Agreement; and (f) AGA. has agrsed to continue to cooperate with the Department in any
investigation of the conduct of AGA and its directors, officars, smployees, agents, nomultlnl:s,
contractors and subconﬁors relating to violations of the FCPA, |

5.  During the Term of this Agreement, AGA agrees to cooperate fully with the
Department, and emy other muthority or agency, domestic or foreign, designated by the
Department investigating AGA, or any of its present and former directors, officers, employees,
agents, consultants, contractors and subcontractors, or any other party, in any and all waiters
relating to corrupt pmnmts AGA aprees that its eooperation shall include, bul:iinotlimitudlo,
the followﬁng:

a.  AGA shall truthfully disclose all information with respect to its activities
and those of its present and former directors, officers, employees, agents, consultants,
contractors and subcontractors, concerning all matters relating to commupt payments, related false
books and records, and inadequate internal controls about which AGA has any knowledge or




about which the Department mey inquire. This obligation of truthful disclosure includes the
obligation of AGA to provide to ths Department, upon requast, any document, record or other
" tengible ovidence relating to such commpt payments, books and records, and internal controls
about which the Department may inquire of AGA.

i Tae Depariment speciftcally reserves the xight to request that AGA
provide the Department with access to information, documents; records, facilities and/or
employees that may be subject to a claim of attorney-client privitege and/or the attorney work-
product doctrine.

ii. Upon written notica to ths Department, AGA specifically reserves
the right to withhold access to informetion, documents, records, facilities and/or smploysss
based upon an assertion of a valid claim of ettorney-client privilege or applicetion of the attorney
wotk-product doctrine, Such notice shall include » genersl description of the maturs of the
information, documents, records, facilities sad/or employees that are being withheld, as well as
the besis for the claim.

#. Tn the event thet AGA withholds acoess 1o tho information,
documents, records, facilities and/or employees of AGA, the Department may consider this fact
in determining whather AGA bas fully cooperated with the Depariment,

7 iv.  Bxcept as provided in this paragraph, AGA shall not withhold
from the Depariment any information, documents, records, facilities and/or employses on the
basis of an attomey-client privilege or wark product cleim.




h. Upon request of the Department, with respect to any issus relevant to its
investigation of corrupt paymests in connection with the operations of AGA, related books and
records and inadequate intemal controls, AGA shell designate knowledgeable employees, agents
or attomeys fo provide to the Depastment the information and materials described in Paragraph
S{a} above, on bebalf of AGA. 1t is further understood that AGA must at all times provids
complete, truthful and accurate information. .

c. With respect to any issus relevant io the Department’s investigation of
corrupt pm in connection with the operations of AGA, or any of its present or former
subsidiaries or affiliates, AGA shall use jts bost efforts to make available for interviews or
testimony, as requested by the Department, present or former directors, officers, 'employees,
ageats and consultants of AGA as woll ns the directors, officers, mmployses, agents and
censultants of contractors and subcontractors, This obligation includes, but is not kmited to,
swor testimony before a federal grand jury or in federal trials, as woll as interviews with federal
law enforcement authorities, Cooperation under this paragraph will include identification of
witnesses whi, to the imo;v{edgr. of AGA, may bave material iuformation regarding the matters
under investigation.

d. With respect to any information, testimony, documents, records ar other
tangibls evidence provided to theDepamncmmmn:mthisAmm:,AcAmmmmy
and all disclosnres to other goverunenta] suthoritics, whether United States anthorities or those
of a foreign govemment, of such materials as the Departmeat, in its sole discretion, shall deem
appropriate,




ayment of Mone e

6. AGA agrees to pay 2 monetary penalty in the amount of $2,000,000 to the United
States Treasury within ten days of the execution of this Agrsemsent. The $2,000,000 penalty is
final and shall not be refunded: (a) if the Department moves to dismiss the Information pursuant
to this Agreement; or (b) should the Department later determine thet AGA has breached this
Agreement and bring a prosecution against AGA. Furthermore, nothing in this Agreement shall
be deemed an agreement by the Department that the $2,000,000 amount is the maxinum penalty
‘that may be imposed in any such prosecution, and the Department js not prechuded from arguing
that the Court should irmpose a higher fine, altbough the Department agrees that under those
circumstances, it will recommend to the Court that the amount paid under this Agreement should
be offsel against any fine the Court imposes ag part of a judgment.

ndition el m

7. In return for the full and truthful cooperation of AGA, and compliance with the
tenms and conditions of this Agreement, the Depariment agrees nottoﬁsoanyinﬁnrmntion
related to the conduet deecn'bed in the attached Statement of Facts against AGA in suy crimiosl
or civil cese, except: (&) in a prosecution for perjury or obstruction of justice; (b) in a
prosecution for making a filse statement; (¢) in a progecution or other procesding relating to any
crime of vicleace; or {d) in a prosecution or other proceeding relating to a violation of any
provision of Title 26 of the United States Code.‘ I eddition, the Department agrees, except a3
provided heren, that it will not bring any criminal or ¢ivil cass against AGA related to the

conduct of present and former directors, officers, employees, agonts, consultants, contractors and




subcontractoré, as described in the attached Stalement of Facts, or relating to information AGA
disclosed to the Department prior to the dats on which this A greement was signed. '

a This paragraph does not provide any protection against prosecution for
any corrupt payments or_falue accounting, if any, mada in tha future by AGA, or any of its
directors, officers, employees, agents, consultants, contractoxs and subcontractors irrespective of
whether disclosed by AGA, pursuant to the terms of this Agreemeat.

b. ‘Thie paragraph also does not provide any piotection against prosecution
for any corrupt paymeats made in the past which are not described in the attached Statement of
Facts or were not disciosed to the Departmont prior to the date on which this Agreement was
signed. In addition, this peregraph does not provide any protection against criminal prosecution
of any present or former director, officer, employes, shareholder, agent or consuitant of AGA for
any violations eommmad by them.

‘ an ram

8. AGA represcats that it has implemented and will contimue fo implement a
compliance and ethics progmn designed to detect and preveat violations of the FCPA and other
applicable enti-corruption Jaws throughout its operations, including those of ite affilintes, joint
ventures, and those of its contractors and subcontractors, with responsibilities that include
interactions with foreign officials. Implementation of these policies and procedurea shall not be
construed in any fute enforcement proceeding as providing immunity or anmesty for any
ctimes not disclosed to the Department as of the dats of signing of this Agreement for which

AGA would otberwise be respansible.




9. In order to address deficiencies in its intemal controls, policies and procedures
regarding compliance with the FCPA and other applicable anti-corruption laws, AGA represeatz
that it has undertaken, or will undertake in the near-fizture, in 4 manner consistant with all of its
obligations under this Agreemenmt, a review of the existing intemal conirols, policiez and
procedures within AGA. Where necessary snd appropriate, AGA will adopt pew or modify
existing intemal controls, policies and procedures in order to ensure that AGA maintains: (a) a
system of internal sccounting controls designed to sosure the meking and keeping of fair and
accurate books, records and acoounts; ﬁm:l {b) a rigorcus anti-corruption compliance cods
designed to detect and deter violationa of the FCPA and otber applicable anti-comruption laws.
The interns} controls system and compliance code will include, but not be limited to, the
minjimum elements set forth in Attachment C, which is incorporated by reference into this
Agresment,

dependen i

10.  AGA agrees to engage an independent corporats monitor (“the Monitor™) within
sixty (60) calondar days of signing this Agreccent. Withia thirty (30) calendar days afier the
signing of this Agresment, and after consultation with the Department, AGA will propose to the
Department n candidate to serve es the Monitor. The Monitor shall have, 8t a minimum, the
following qualifications:

a. demenstrated expertise with respect to the FCPA, including experience

counseling on FCPA issues;




b. experience designiog and/or reviewing coiporate compliance policies,
procedures and internal conwrols, including FCPA-specific policies, procedures and internal
controls;

c. the ability to access and deploy resources as necessary to discharge the
Monitor's duties a8 described in the Agreement; and

d. sufficient independence from AQA to emsure effective and impartial
performance of the Monitor’s duties as described in the Agreement, ‘

11.  The Department retaing the right, in its sole discretion, to accept or reject any
Monitor proposed by AGA pursuazt to the Agreement, In the sveat the Department rejects a
propossd monitor, AGA ghall propose another candidate within ten (10) calendar days after
receiving notice of the rejection. This process shall continue until a Monitor acceptable to all
parﬁesixchman. The Monitor’s term shall be thres (3) years from the date on which this
Agrecment was signed, subject to extension or carly termination ag deseribed in paragraph 3.
The Monitor’s duties and authority, and the obligations of AGA with respect to the Monitor and
the Department, are set ft':rth in Attachment D, which is incorporated by reference into this
Agrwﬁwat.

Deferred Prosecution

12, Inconsideration oft (g) tho past and future cooperation of AGA described in
Paragraphs 4 and 5 sbove; (b) AGA’s payment of 2 monetary penalty of $2,000,000; and (c)

AGA’s adoption and maintenance of remediel measures, and independsnt review and audit of




such measurss, including the compliance cods and review by the Monitor described in
Paragraphs § through 11 above, the Department agrees that any prosecution of AGA for the
conduct set forth in the attached Statement of Facts, and for the conduot relating to information
that AGA disclosed io the Departmeant, prior to the signing of this Agresment, be and hereby is
deferred for the Term of this Agreement,

13.  The Department further agrees that if AGA fully complies with all of its
obligations under this Agreement, the Department will not continue the criminal prosecution
against AGA described in Paragraph 1 and, after the Term, this Agreement shall expire and. the
Department will move to dismiss the criminal Information pendii:g against AGA. |

Breach of the Agreement

14,  If, during the Tern of this Agreement, the Department dstermines, in its sole
discretion, that AGA has committed any felony under federal law subsequent to fhc signing of
this Agreement, hzs, at any time, provided deliberztely false, incomplete or misleading
information, or has otherwise breached the Agresment, AGA shall thereafier be subject to
prosecution for any fedual criminal violation of which the Department has knowledge. Any
such prosecutions may be premised on information provided by AGA. Any such prosecution
that is not time-barred by the applicable statute of limitations on the date of the signing of this
Agresment may be commenced against AGA notwithstanding the expiration of ths statute of
limitations between the signing of this Agreement and the expiration of the Term plus one year.
Thus, by signing this Agreement, AGA agrees that tho statute of limitations with respect to any
prosecution that is not time-basred on the date of this Agreement shall be tollcd for the Term

plus one year,
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15.  Inthe event that the Department determines that AGA bas breached this
Agrecment: (g) all statements made by or on behalf of AGA to the Department or to the Court,
including the attached Statement of Facts, and any testimany given by AGA befors a grand jury
or any tribunal, at any legislative hearings whether pricr or subsequent to this Agreement, or any
leads derived from such statements or testimony, shall be admissible in evidence in any and all
criminal procesdings brought by the Department againat AGA; and (b) AGA sball aot asserf any
claim under the United States Constitution, Rule 11(f) of the Federal Rules of Criminal.
Procedure, Rule 410 of the Federal Rules of Hvidence or any other federal zule, that statements
made by or on bebalf of AGA prior or subsequent to this Agreement, and any leads derived
therefrom, should be suppressed. The decision whether conduct or statements of auy individual
will be imputed to AGA for the purpose of detsrmining whether AGA has violated any provision
of this Agreement shall be in the sole discretion of the Department. 7

16.  AGA acknowledges that the Department has made no rapragentations, assurances
or promisea conceming what seatence may be imposed by the Court if AGA breaches this
Agreement and this mattq‘proceeds to judgraent. AGA further acknowledges that suy such
sentance is solely within the discretion of the Court and that nothing in this Agreement binds or
restriots the Cowrt in the exercise of such discretion, |

Saje or Merger of AGA

17.  AGA agrees that in the event it sells, merges, or transfers aﬂ or substantially all
of its business operations as they exist as of the date of this Agreement, whether such sale is

1




structured as a stock or asset sale, merger or transfer, it shall include in any contract for sale,
merger or transfer a provision binding the purchaser, or any successor in interest thereto, to the
obligations described in this Agreement.

- Rublic Btatements by AGA

18.  AQA expressly agrees that it shall not, through present or future atiomeys,

directors, officers, employees, agents or any other person euthorized to speak for AGA make any
public stetement, in litigation or otherwise, contradicting the acceptence of responsibility by
AGA set forth above or the facts desoribed in the attached Statement of Facts. Any such
contradictory statement shall, subject to cure rights of AGA described below, constituts a breach
of this Agroement and AGA thercafter shall be subject to prosscution as set forth in Paragraphs
13 and 14 of this Agreement. The decigion whether any public statement by any such person
contradicting a fact contained in the Statement of Facts will be imputed to AGA for the purpose
ufdetmminingwhetherthethcbmanhedthisAngshnllbe at the sole discretian of the
Department. If the Department determines that a public statement by any such person
contradicts in whole or mpa:t a statement contained in the Statoment of Facts, the Department
shall s0 notify AGA, and AGA may avoid a breach of this Agreemeat by publicly repudiating
such statsment(s} within five (5) business deys after notification, Consistent with the obligetions
of AGA a8 set forth above, AGA shall be permitted to taiss defenses and to assert affirmative
claims in civil end rogulatory préceadings relating to the matters sot forth in the Statement of
Facts. This paragraph does not apply to any statement made by any present or former employee
of AGA in the course of any criminal, regulatory or civil case initiated against such individual,
unless such individual is speaking on bekalf of AGA.

12




19.  Incomnection with this Agresment, AGA shall not issus a press release unless it
first determines that the text of the release ia accoptebls to the Department,

Limftations on Binding Effect of Agreement

20.  This Agreement is binding on AGA. and the Department but specifically does not
bind any other federal agencies, or any state, local or foreign law snforcement or regulatory
agencies, although the Deopartment will bring the cooperation of AGA and its compliance with
its other obligations under this Agresment, to the attention of such agencies and authorities if
requested to do so by AGA.

Complets Apreement

21.  This Agreement sets forth all the terms of the Deferred Prosecution Agreement
between AGA aud the Department. No amendments, modifications or additions to this
Agreement shall be valid unless they are in writing and signed by the Department, the attomeys
for AGA and a duly authorized representative of AGA.

Notice

22. Anmy notic;ho the Department under this Agreement shell be given by personal
delivery, ovemight delivery by a recognized delivery service or registared or certified mail, in
each oase, for the Department, addressed to Mark F. Mendelschn (or his successor), Deputy
Chief, Fraud Section, Criminzl Division, U.S. Department of Justice, fourth floor, 1400 New

13




York Avere, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20005 snd, for AGA, addressed to Ronald B. Lund,
General Counsel, AGA Medical Corporation. Notice shall be effective upon actusl receipt by

AGA.

AGREED:

FOR AGA MEDICAL CORPORATION:

FOR THE DEFARTMENT OF JUSTICE:

STEVEN A. TYRRELL
Chief, Fraud Section

B = A S

David Bybes
Trial Attorney, Fraud Sectior,

Williamm B. Jacobson
Assistant Chief

United States Department of Justice
Fraud Section, Criminal Division
10* & Constitution Avenue, NW

Washington, D.C. 20530
(202) 514-7023

Filed at Minneapolis, Minnesota, on this 1-_-. day of June, 2008.
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OFFICER’S CERTIFICATE

I have read this Agreement and carefully reviewed every part of it with counsel for AGA
Medical Corporation (*AGA"). [ understand the terms of this Agreement and voluntarily agree,
on behalf of AGA, to each of its terms. Before signing this Agreement, I consulted with the
attorney for AGA. The attomney fully advised me of the rights of AGA, of possible defenses, of
the Seatencing Guidelines” provisions, and of the consequences of entering into this Am‘ec_mmt.

i have carefully reviewed thiz Agresment with the Board of Directors of AGA. I have
advised, and cansed outsids counsel for AGA to advise, that Board fully of the ng]m of AGA, of
possible defenses, of the Sentencing Guidelines’ provisions, am:l of the consequences of entering
into the Agreement.

No promises or inducements have beea made other than those contnined in this
Agreement. Furthermore, no one bas threatened or forced me, of to my knowledge any pesson
authorizing thiz Agreement on behalf of AGA, in eny way to enter into this Agreement. [am
&lso satisfied with the attomey’s representation in: this matter. I certify that I am an officer of
AGA and that I have beon.';h;ly authorized by AGA to execute this Agreement on bebalf of
AGA.

D“"-&Vw Z . 2008
AGA Medical Corporation

1d E. Lund, GenoraPCounsel
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CERTIFICATE OF COUNSEL

1am counsel for AGA Medical Corporation ("AGA") in the matm covered by this
Agreement. In connection with such representation, I bave examired relevant AGA documents
and have discusscd this Agreement with the AGA Boerd of Directors. Based on my review of
the foregoing materials and discussions, f am of the opinion that: the representative of AGA has
bect duly authorized to eater info this Agreement on behalf o AGA and that this Agreement has
been duly and validly suthorized, executed, snd delivered on bebalf of AGA and is & valid and
binding obligation of AGA. Purther, I have carefully reviewed this Agreement with the Board of
Directors and General Counsel of AGA. 1have fully advised them of the rights of AGA, of
possible defenses, of the Sentencing Guidslinas® provisions and of the consequences of entering
into this Agreement. To my knowledge, the decision of AGA to enter into this Agreament is an
informed and voluntary one. |

nmgﬂ;z , 2008

ot i




ATTACHMENT A
STATEMENT OF FACIS

The following Statement of Facts is incorporeted by this refereace s part of the
Deferred Progecution Agreement (“the Agrsement™) between the United States Department of
Justice, Criminal Division, Fraud Section (“the Department™) and AGA Medical Corporation
(*AGA™) and the parties hereby agree and stipulate that the following informaticn is true and
accurate. As set forth in Parsgraph 2 of the Agreement, AGA accepts and acknowledges that it
- is responsible for the acts of its efficers, employees and agents as set forth below.

" Should the Department initiate the prosecution that is deferred by this Agreement, AGA
apgrees that it will neither contest the admissibility of, nor contradict, this Statement of Facts in
any such procaeding.

| If this matter were to proceed to trial, the United States would prove beyond a _
reasonable doubt, by sdmissible cvidence, the facts alleged in the Criminal Information filed
contsmporanecusly with this Agreement. This evidencs would establish the following

L. AGA ME];JICAL CORPORATION (“AGA™) was incorporated in
1995 in Minnesota, had its principal place of businses in Golden Valley, Minnesota, and was a
*dotestio concern™ as that term is used in tho FCPA, 15 US.C.§ 78dd-2(h)(1)(B).

2.  AGA mamufactured end sold medical devicea for the minimally invasive
treatment of congenital heert defects. AGA marketed and sold its products in over 90 countries,
including the People’s Republic of China (“Chine™), through a network of local distributors end
direct sales, | |

i AGA meintained smail servers at its Golden Velley, Minnesota, headquarters
and alt email dirscted to AGA employses was sent to these email servers.




4. From at least March 2000, through in or about late 2002, AGA applied to the
State: Intellectual Property Office of the People’s Republic of China (“the Chinese Patent
Office™), an agency of the Chinese government, for patents on sevesal of its products,

5. From in or about 1995 to the present, “Officer A,” a U.S, citizen, wea 8 high-
ranking officer and part owner of AGA, who had suthority to set company policy, contract with
distributors, hire and fire employees, set sales prices, and approve sales practices in foreign
countties, :

6. From in or about 1997, through in or sbout November 2001, “Employse B," n
U.S, citizen, was the head of intsrnational sales for AGA.

7. From in or about December 2001, through in or about early-2007, “Bmployee
C.” 2 US. citizen, was the head of international sales for AGA.

8. In or about December 1998, AGA entered into an agrocment with a Chiness
comnpany to be the sole distsibutor of AGA products in China. An employee of that company,
“the Chiness Distributor,” a Chinese citizen, was m@oﬂh for the AGA account at that
company and was the mai;point of contact for AGA. In or about 1999, the Chinese Distributor

Jeft his employer to form his own company. AGA moved its business from the initial company

~ tothe Chinese Distributor’s new company and AGA meinteinsd a business relationship with the
Chinase Distributor and his company until AGA suspended the shipment of products to the
Chinese Distributor in Jume 2005. On or about April 12, 2006, AGA. terminated its agreement
with the Chinese Distributor.




9, The Chinese Distributor was authorized to sell AGA products, negotiate prices,
and exploy salespeople. The Chinese Distributor’s primary customers were hospitals owned
and operated by the government of China and government-smployee physicizns working at those
hospitals.

10. Government-owned and controlled hospitals in China sre “instrumentalities
of the Chinese government and physicians employed by such hospitals ars “foreign officials,” as
those terms are used in the FCPA, 15 U.8,C. § 78dd-2(h)(2)(A)- :

11,  Inorebout December 1997, Officer A, on behalf of AGA, signed and axecuted 2
distributorship agreement with the company that then employed the Chinese Distributor.

12.  Onor about December 20, 1997, the Chinese Distributor sent an email from
China to Officer A in Minnesota informing Officer A that bospitals in China were asking for a
10% *discount” end physicians were asking for a 10% “commission™ on products sold. The
Chiness Distributor further informed Officer A that if AGA did not acoept those torms, the
hospitals and physicians would not purchase AGA"s products.

13. Inor abau;.!anuary 1998, the Chinese Distributor traveled from China to
Minnesota to discuss with Officer A, among other things, the prices that the Chinese Distributor
would chargs for AGA's products and the kickbacks that the Chiness Distributor would pay to
pbysicians in China in order to induce them to purchase AGA's products.

14, Onarabout July 16, 1998, Officer A sent an c-mail to the Chinese Distributor

stating: "I understand that the fee you must pay each physician waa to be included in your selling
price. It should therefore not be an issue.”




15.  Inor about December 1998, Officer A, on behalf of AGA, signed and exccuted a
second distributorship agreement with the company that then employed ths Chinese Distritutor.

16.  Inorabout 1999, after the Chinese Distributor left his originai employer to start
his own company, Officer A, on behulf of AGA, eatered into a distributorship agresment with
the Chinese Distributor’s new company.

17.  On or sbout February 1, 2000, the Chinsse Distributor again traveled from Chia
to Mianesota to discuss with Officer A, among other things, the prices that the Chinese.
Distributor would charge in China for AGA's products and the kickbacks that the Chinese
Distributor would pay to physicians in China to induce them to purchase AGA’s products.

18.  Onp or about March 19, 2001, the Chingse Distributor sent an email from China
to Bmployee B in Minnesota stating that the Chinese Distributor had, to that point, paid
$460,000 in “commissions” to physicians in China aud had also contacted a Chinese pabent
official to wham he would have to pay money. The Chinese Distyibutor wrote, “This week I
heve maken [sic] an appointment with cne key pexson in Chine knowledge and fnmt Protection
Buresu. Any action in Cﬁi;mimustpaymmymdo."

19.  On orsbout May 11, 2001, the Chinesc.a Distributor sent an email from China
to Officer A in Minnosota stating thet the Chiness Distributor had met with a Chinese patent
official regarding AGA's patent application and that the official had agreed to speed up the
revisw of AGA’s application and o “solve some problems in different departments in ber

bureau” related to the application. The Chinese Distributor explained in the email that he would




have to “sponsor” the patent official for this worl and asked Officer A if AGA would agres to
cover that cost. By return email on or about that same day, Officar A agreed, on behalf of AGA,
to cover the fes to be paid to the Chinese patent official by the Chiness Distributor, stating, *1
am still in agreement with our prior discussions and will cover her fee as long as wo can get the
{sic] patent issued in a timely manner.”

20.  On or about July 24, 2001, the Chinese Distributor sent an email from China to
Officer A in Minnesota stating: “Very good news that your pateats havs been taken out from the
stock and begun to check by the obaervation people. My friends told me that if there are any
news, they will fell me. 1 think we will win this war if we can get the patent approvenment [sic].
I contacted with two officials working in different departments. They will help us from different
ways. They don’t know cach other and don*t know I seked two people to helpus . . . About
your new product, my friend told me that vou should ask your agent to apply the invent and
practical patents sametime [sic]. 1can ask my friend to help to approve the practical patent in
oneyeuandgetloyeamprotecﬁon."

21. Onor-aboﬁﬁebwuyﬁ, 2002, the Chincse Pistributer sent en email from China
to Employes C in Minnesota stating: *“Please inform [Officer A] don®t give up the application
for the firgt three patents in China. I'will contact with ths officials of Chine patent bureau again
sfter Chinese new year. Maybe money will help us.”

22, Onor sbout March 20, 2002, the Chinese Distribotor seat an email from China

informing Officer A that the Chincse Distributor had paid $20,000 to the patent official to




approve pateats for AGA products and thak: “I just nesd the results of patsats approved no
matter what way he do.” |

23.  Onorabout April 17, 2002, the Chinese Distributor sent an email from China to
Officer A stating: “Todey my friend tells me that one of your last two patents have been
approved and the other one will be approved soon.” -

24.  Op orabout October 18, 2002, the Chinese Distributor sent an email from China
to Officer A staling that the Chinese Distributer was carently paying a “reward” to each
physician who purchased an AGA product in an amount renging from $300 to $1,000 per
product purchassd.

25, Onorabout October 31, 2002, Bmployee C sent a memo to Officer A listing
the then-current prices for various AGA products in China and including a column entitled
“Reward to Physicians,” with dollar amounts listed for each product. On or about this same
date, Employes C band-wrote a notation reading, “OK, effective immediately,” at the top of this
e, ,

26. On orabo;: October 21, 2003, Employee C-wrote a memorandum to Officer A
and other AGA employess reporting on his recent trip to China. The memormndum contained a
chart of then-current prices being charged for various AGA products in China and contained a
notation refleoting the amount of the “rabates” given by the Chinese Distributor to physicians.

27.  Onorabout Decemaber 2, 2003, the Chinese Distributor sent an email to

Bmployee C regarding pricing for AGA products in China which stated: “My company slso need
to provids 20% kickback for physicians end sometimes 10% discount to hospitals.”




28.  Omabout December 5, 2003, the Chinese Distributer sent an smail from China
to Employee C, expleining how physicians at hospitals in China selected products for porchase:
“The physicians suggest ths patient to use which dsvice according {to] the patient’s family _
economic ability and the idckback."”

23.  On or about February 26, 2005, the Chinese Distribuntor sent an email ﬁom China
to Employee C providing Employee C with a list of then-current prices being charged for various
AGA products in China and informing Employee C that the Chinese Distributor was peying
physicians kickbacks of 15% to 25% of the purchase price.

30.  Between 1997 and 2005, AGA regularly shipped its products from Minnesota to
the Chiness Disiributor in China, via interstato and international freight carriers, for sale by the
Chinese Distributor at the prices, and pursuant to the terms, discussed and agreed to by AGA,
Officer A, Employee B, Employee C, the Chinese Distributor and others.

31.  Between 1997 and 2005, AGA sslos in China totsled approximately $13.5

million,
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ATTACHMENT B
TIFI E OF L N

WHEREAS, AGA MEDICAL CORPORATION (“AGA™ or, “the Comapany”) hes been
engaged in discussions with the United States Department of Justice, Criminal Divigion, Fruud
Secticn (“the Department™) in connection with issues arising in relation to certain corrupt
payments to foreign officials to facilitate the award of contracts and obtaining business for the
Company; and :

WHEREAS, in order to resolve such discussions, it ia proposed that the Company eater
into a certair agreement with the Dopartment; and

WHEREAS the Company's Genoral Counssl, together with investigative and outside
counsel for the Company, have advised the Board of Directors of the Company’s rights, possible
defensos, the Sentencing Guidelines® provisions, and the consequences of entering into such
agreament with thie Departent;

Therefore, this Board hersby RESOLVES that:

1. i'heComé;ny(i) consents to the filing in the United States District Court for the
District of Minnesota of a two-count Information charging AGA. with conspiracy to coramit an
offenss against the United States, namely, to viclate the Foreign Corrupt Pmﬁoe.u Act ("FCPA™)
(15U.8.C. § 78dd-2(a)(1), in violetian of 18 USC. § 371 (Count One); and the payment of
bribes, in violation of 15 U.5.C. § 78dd-2 and 18 U.S.C. § 2 (Count Two); (if) waives indictment
on such charges and enters into a Deferred Prosecution Agreement with the Department; and (jii)
agrees to accept a monetary penaity against AGA of $2,000,000, and to pay $2,000,000 to the
United Btates Treasury with respect to the conduct described in the Information.




2. The General Counsel, or his delegate, is hereby authorized, empowéred and
directed, on behalf of the Company, to executs the Deferred Prosecution Agresment
substantially in such form as reviewed by this Board of Directors at this meeting with such
changes as the General Counsel, or his delapate, may approve;

3 The General Counsel, or his delegate, is hereby authorized, empowered and
directed to take any and all actions as may be necessary ot appropriate, and to approve the forms,
terms or provisions of any agresment or other documents es moay be necessary or apprapriate to
carry out and effectuate the purpose and iatent of the foregoing reschutions; and

4, All of the actions of the General Counsel, which actions would have been

authorized by the foregoing resolutions except that such ections wers taken prior to the adoption

of such resolutions, sare hereby severally ratified, confinned, approved and adopted as actions on
behalf of the Company.

o L g%é&—
of Direotors

AGA Medicsl Corporation




ATTACHMENT C

CORPORATE COMPLIANCE PROGRAM

Tt order to address deficiencies in its internal controls, policies and procedures regarding
compliance with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA™), 15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-1, ef seq., and
other epplicable anti-corruption laws, AGA Medical Corporation ("AGA™) agrees to conduct, in
& manner consistent with this Agreemeat, a review of its existing internal controls, policies and
procedures. ,

Where necesgary and appropriste, AGA further agrees to adopt new or to modify
existing intemsl controls, policies and procedures in order to ensuxe that it maintains: (aya
system of internal accounting controls designed to ensure that AGA makes and keeps fair and
accurate books, records and acoounts; and (b) & rigorous anti-corruption campliance code,
standards and procedures designed to detect and deter violations of the FCPA and other
applicable anti-corruption laws. At a minimum, this should include, but ought not be limited to,
the following elements: .

1. A clearly nrhculated corporate policy againgt violations of the FCPA and other
applicable anti-corruption laws.

2. A gystem of financial and accounting procedures, including a system of internel
accounting controls, designed to ensure the maintenance of fair end acourats booke, records and
accounts.

3. Promulgation of compliance standards and procedures designed to reduce the
prospect of violations of the FCPA, other applicable anti-corruption laws and AGA's compliance

code. These standards and procedures should epply to all directors, officers and employces end,
whexe necessary and appropriate, outside parties acting on bebalf of AGA in foreign '




jurisdictions, including agents, consultants, representatives, distributors, teaming partaers and
Jjoint venture partners (nollectivoljr referred to as “agents and business partners™).

4, The assignmont of responsibility to one or more senior corporate officials of
AGA for the implementation and oversight of compliance with policies, standards and
procedures mogarding the FCPA and other epplicable anti-corruption laws. Such corporate
official(s) shall have the authority to report matiers directly to AGA’s Board of Directors.

5, Mechanisms designed to easure that the policies, standards and procedures of
AGA regarding the FCPA and other applicable anti-corruption laws are effectively
comununicated to all directors, officers, employees and, where necessary and appropriate, agents
and business partners. Thess mechanisms shall include: (A) periodic training for all such
directors, oﬂioarn, employess, agents and business parmars; and (B) annual certifications by all
such directors, officers, emaployses, agents and business partners, certifying compliance with the

6. Aneffective systam for reporting suspected criminal conduct and/or violaticns of
the compliance policies, standards and procedures regarding the FCPA and other spplicabie snti-
cormuption lawe for directors, officers, employees, sgents mdbusinesfps:ﬁm,

7 Appropriate disciplinary procedures to address, pmong other things, violations of
the FCPA, other applicable anti-corruption laws or AGA’s compliance code by directors,
officers, employees, agents and business partascs.

8.  Appropriate due difigence requirements pertaining to the retention and oversight
of agonts and businssa partnecs.




9. Standard provisions in agreements, contracts, aud renewals thereof with all
agents and business parmers which are designed to prevent violations of the FCPA and other
applicabls anti~corruption laws, which provisions may, depending upon the circumstances,
inchade: (A) anti-corruption representations and undertekings rolating to compliance with the
FCPA and other applicable anti-cotruption laws; (B) rights to conduct audits of the books and
records of the agent or business partner to ensure compliance with the foregoing; and (C) rights
to terminate an agent or business partner as & result of any breach of anti-corruption laws, and

regulations or representations amd undertakings related fo such matters.




ATTACHMENT D
INDEPENDENT CORPORATE MONITOR
1.  Within sixty (60) calendar days of the execution of this Agreement, AGA.

MEDICAL CORPORATION (“AGA” or “the Compaay*) agrees to engage an independent
corporate monitor (the “Monitor) for a period of three (3) years. The Monitor's primary
responsibility is to assess and monitor the Company’s comptiance with the terms of this
Agrpement 50 a8 to specifically address and reduce the sisk of any recurrence of the Compeny’s
misconduct, including evaluating the Company’s corporate comp!mnoe program with respeci to
the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-1, ef seq., and othex relevant
anti-corruption lnw;. Within thirty (30) calendar days after the signing of this Agresment, and
after copsultation with the Department, AGA will propose to the Department a candidate to
serve as the Monitar, The Monitor shall have, at a minimum, the following qualifications;

8. demonstrated expertise with reapect to the FCPA, including experience
counseling on FCPA issues; |

b. upm:noc designing and/or reviowing cotporate compliance policies,
procecures and interoal controls, mcluding FCPA-specific policies, procedures and controls;

c the ability to access and deploy resources ag necessary to discharge the
Monitor’s dulies a8 described in the Agreement; and

d sufficiant independence from AGA to cosare effective and impartial
performance of the Monitor’s duties ag described in the Agresment.

2. The Department retains the right, in ita sole discretion, to accept or reject the

Monitor proposed by AGA. pursuant to the Agreement. In the cvent the Department rejecta 2

proposed monitor, AGA shall propose another candidate within ten (10) calendar days after




receiving notice of the rejection. This process shall continue until a Monitor acceptable to all
parties is chosen. Tha Monitor's term shall be three (3) years from the date on which thia
Agreement was signed, subject to extension or eady termination as described in Paragraph 3 of
the Agreement. ' The Monitor’s duties and euthority, snd the obligations of AGA. with respect to
thBVMonitnr and the Department, are set forth below.

3. AGA agrees that it will not employ or be affiliated with the Monitor for a period
of not less then one year from the date the Monitor's work has eaded. - .

4,  The Monitor will review end evaluate the effectiveness of AGA's internal
controls, record-keeping, and financial reporting pelicies and procedures as they relate to AGA's
compliance with the books and records, internal accounting controls and anti-bribery provisions
of the PCPA, sad ofther applicable anti-corruption laws. This review and evaluation shall include
ax asscsgment of those policies and procedurcs as actually implemented. The retention
agreement between AGA and the Monitor will reference this Agreement and includo this
Agroement as an atachment so the Monitor is fully apprised of his or her duties and
rasponsibilities.

3. AGA shall cooperate fully with the Monitor and the Monitor shall have the
authority to take such reasonable steps as, in his or her view, may be necessary to be fully
informed sbout the complience program of AGA within the scope of bis or her responsibilities
under this Agreement. Ta that end, AGA shall provide the Monitor with access to all
information, documents, records, facilities and/or employens that fall within the scope of

responsibilities of the Mouitor under this Agreement, Any such disclogure by AGA to the




Monitor conceming corrupt peyments, related books and records and related internal contrels
shall not relisve AGA of its obligation truthfully to disclose such mattera to the Department.

ﬁ. The parties agres that the Monitor is an independent third-party, not an
empioyes or agent of AGA or the Department, and that no attorney-client relationship shall be
formed between AGA. and the Mouifor,

b. In the event that AGA seeks to withhold from the Monitor access to
information, docanments, records, facilities andfor employees of AGA on grounds that ﬂ:le
infosmation, documents, records, facilities and/or employess are protected from disclosure by
the attommey-client privilege or the attorney work-product doctrine, AGA shall promptly provide
written notice of this determination to the Monitor and the Department, Such notice ghall
include = general description of the nature of the information, documents, records, facilities _
and/for smployees that are being withheld, 2s well as the basis for the claim., The Department
may then consider whether to male a further request for access to such information, documents,
records, facilities and/or eznployess, as provided in Parsgraph 5(2) of the Agreement.

5. Excoptss provided in this paragraph, AGA shall not withhold from the
Monitor eny information, documents, records, fucilities and/or employees on the busis of an
attorney-client privilegs or work product claim.

6. AGA agrees that:

2.  The Monitor shall assess whether AGA's existing policies and procedures

"are reasonably designed to dstect and prevet violations of the FCPA and other spplicable ani-

corruption lawe.




i
1
i

b.  Ths Monitor shall evaluate AGA”s compliance with this Agreement.

c.  The Monitor shall oversee AGA's implementation of end adhierence to all
existing, modified or new policies mnd procedures relating to FCPA compliance (ths “Policies
end Procedurss™), including the minimum policies and procedures set forth in Attachment C.

d  ‘The Monitor shall ensuce that the Policiss and Provedures are
appropuristely designed to agcomplish their goala.

e.  During the throe 3) yoar tovm, the Monitor shall conduct an initial review
and prepara an initial report, followed by two follow-up reviews and reports as described below:

()  With respect o cach of tho throo (3) roviews, after initial
consultations with AGA and the Department, the Monitor shall prepare & written work plan for
each roview, whichshaﬂbembmiﬁe&inadvmebAGAmdﬂchepamqnﬁrmL In
order to conduct an effective initial review and to inderstand fully any existing deficiencies in
controls, policies and procedures refated to the FCPA and other applicable sati-corruption laws,
the Monitor’s initial work plan shall include such steps as are reasonably necessary to develop an
undesstanding of the facts and oiroumustances surownding any violations that may have ocoarred,
but the parties do not intend that the Monitor will conduct his or her owa inguiry into those
historical events. Any disputes between AGA and the Monitor with respect to the work plan
ball be decided by the Department in its sole discretion.,

(i) T connection with the initial review, the Monitor shall issue
written report within one hundred twenty (120) calendar days of bis or her retention setting forth
the Monitor’s essessment end, if sppropriate end necsssary, making recommendations
reagsonably designed to improve the poliéies and procedures of AGA for ensuring complisnce




with the FCPA, and other applicable anti-corruption laws. The Monitor shall provide the report
to the Board of Directors of AGA and conternporaneously transmit copies to Mark F.
Mendelsohn (or his successor), Deputy Chief, Frand Section, Criminal Division, U.S.
Department of Justice, 10™ and Constitution Ave., N.W., Bond Building, Fourth Floor,
Washington, DC 20530. The Monitor may extend the tims period for issuamce of the repart with
prior written spproval of the Department,

(i)  Within one-hundred twenty (120) calendar days after receiving
the Monitor*s report, AGA shall adopt the recommendations set forth in the report; provided,
however, that within sixty (60) calendar days after receiving the report, AGA shall advise the
Monitor and the Department in writing of any recommendations that AGA considers unduly
burdensome, impractical, costly or otherwise inadvisable, With respect to any recommeondation
that AGA considers unduly burdsnsome, impractical, costly or otherwiss inadvisable, AGA need
not adopt that recommendation; instead, AGA may propose in writing an sltemative policy,
procodure or system designed to achisve the same objective or purpose. As to any
recommendation on whicl:AGA and the Monitor ultimately do not agres, the views of AGA and
the Monitor ahall promptly be brought to the attention of the Department. The Department may
copeider the Monitor's recommendation and the Compsny’s reasons for not adopting the
recommendation in detc:miﬁing whether AGA haa fully complied with its obligations under this

-Apreemeat. -

() The Monitor shall widertake two follow-up Toviows to further

monitor end assess whether the policies and prooedures of AGA are reasonably designed to

dotect and prevent violations of the FCPA and other applicable snti-corruption Jaws.




(v)  Within sixty (60) calondar days of initiating each follow-up
reviow, the Mouitor shall: (A) complets the review; (B) certify whether the anti-bribecy
compliance program of AGA, including its policies and procedures, is appropriatsly designed
and implemented to snsure compliance with the FCPA and other applicable anti-corroption laws;
and (C) report on the Monitor's findings in the seme fashion as with respect to the initial roviow.

(v)  The first follow-up review and report shall bo completed by one
yoar after the initial review. The second follow-up review and report shall be comploted by one
year after the complotion of the first follow-up review.

(vii) The Monitor may extend the time period for submission of the
follow-up reports with prior written approval of the Department, |

7. In undertaking the assessments and reviews described above, the Maonitor shall
formulats conclusions based on, among other things: (2) inspection of relovant documents,
including all the policies and procsdures relating to AGA’s anti-corruption compliance program;
(b) onsite observation of AGA’s systems and procedures, including its intornal controls, record-
 keeping and intoenal audit procedures; (c) meetings with, and interviews of, relovant employees,
officess, directors and other persons at mutually convenient times and places; and (d) analyses,
studics and testing of AGA’s anti-comruption compliance program.

8 Should the Monitor, during the course of his or ber engagement, discovar
credible evidence that questionable or corrupt payments or questionable or corrupt tranafers of
property or interests may have been offered, promised, peid or authorized by any AGA entity or
person, or any entity or person working directly or indirectly for AGA, or that related falve

books and records have been maintained, the Monitor shall promptly report such conduct to




AGA's General Counagel, its Board of Diractors, and its outside counsel for further investigation,
unloss the Monitor believes, in the exercise ofhis or her discreticn, that such disclosure should
be made directly to the Department.- If the Monitor refers the matter only 1o AGA’s Genaral
Counsel, its Board of Directors, and its outside counsel, AGA shall promptly report the sams to
the Department and contsmporanecusly notify the Monitor that such report bas been made, If
AGA fails to make disclosure to the Department within ten (10) calendsr days of the Monitor's
repart of such conduct to AGA, the Monitor shall indepeadently disclose his or her findings to
the Department at the address listed in Paragraph 6(e){ii) above. Further, in the eventthat AGA,
or any exntity or person working directly or indirectly for AGA, refuses to provide information
necessary for the perfonmance of the Monitor’s responsibilities, the Monitor shall promptly
discloge that fact to the Department. AGA shali not take any action to retaliate against the
Monitor for any such disclosures or for any other reason. The Monitor may report other criminal
or regulatory violations discovered in the course of performing his or her duties, in the same
manner as described above.




